

Options for mangrove-friendly alternative livelihoods in the mangrove ecosystem (Opsi Mata Pencaharian Alternatif di Ekosistem Mangrove yang Ramah Linggunkan

Author(s): Adolphe O. Debrot¹, Sri Rejeki², Rudhi Pribadi² and M. Nazrul Islam³

Wageningen University & Research report C075/22

- 1. Wageningen Marine Research
- 2. Universitas Diponegoro, Semarang, Jawa, Indonesia
- 3. University of Khulna, Khulna, Bangladesh



Options for mangrove-friendly alternative livelihoods in the mangrove ecosystem

(Opsi Mata Pencaharian Alternatif di Ekosistem Mangrove yang Ramah

Linggunkan)

Author(s): Adolphe O. Debrot¹, Sri Rejeki², Rudhi Pribadi² and M. Nazrul Islam³

1 Wageningen Marine Research

2 Universitas Diponegoro, Semarang, Jawa, Indonesia

3 University of Khulna, Khulna, Bangladesh

This research project was funded by The Netherlands Sustainable Water Fund which provided core funding for this work through project number FDW14R14. Additional co-funding was provided to Wageningen University and Research by the Netherlands Ministry of Agriculture, Nature and Food Quality through grant KB36 #4318300114 and project 5200046748.

Wageningen Marine Research IJmuiden, November 2022

Wageningen Marine Research report C075/22





An earlier draft was published in: **MANGROVE Pantai Utara Jawa Tengah.** (Eds. Pribadi, R., Trianto, A., Priyono A., Efendi, G.R.) pp. 17-38. Faculty of Fisheries and Marine Sciences, University of Diponegoro, Semarang, Java, Indonesia, 2020. **The latter is available in Bahasa Indonesia from: fpik.undip.ac.id and ikamat.org**

Keywords: bio-economy, mangrove compatible-livelihoods, mangrove-friendly livelihoods, non-timber forest products, NTFP, Associated Mangrove Aquaculture, intermediate-scale production technology

Client: Ecoshape Foundation Noordeinde 109b 3341 LW Hendrik Ido Ambacht The Netherlands nfo@EcoShape.nl +31 (0)6 18 74 99 48

This report can be downloaded for free from https://doi.org/10.18174/580905 Wageningen Marine Research provides no printed copies of reports

Wageningen Marine Research is ISO 9001:2015 certified.

Photo cover: Thailand, Surat Thani, January 2010, Pieter van Eijk

© Wageningen Marine Research

Wageningen Marine Research, instituut binnen de rechtspersoon Stichting Wageningen Research, hierbij vertegenwoordigd door Drs. ir. M.T. van Manen, directeur bedrijfsvoering

KvK nr. 09098104, WMR BTW nr. NL 8113.83.696.B16. Code BIC/SWIFT address: RABONL2U IBAN code: NL 73 RABO 0373599285

A_4_3_1 V32 (2021)

Wageningen Marine Research aanvaardt geen aansprakelijkheid voor gevolgschade, noch voor schade welke voortvloeit uit toepassingen van de resultaten van werkzaamheden of andere gegevens verkregen van Wageningen Marine Research. Opdrachtgever vrijwaart Wageningen Marine Research van aanspraken van derden in verband met deze toepassing.

Alle rechten voorbehouden. Niets uit deze uitgave mag weergegeven en/of gepubliceerd worden, gefotokopieerd of op enige andere manier gebruikt worden zonder schriftelijke toestemming van de uitgever of auteur.

Contents

1	Abstract	4
2	Introduction	5
3	Fisheries	7
4	Mussel culture	9
5	Agroforestry-related options	10
	Associated Mangrove Aquaculture (AMA)	10
	Plant-based Non-Timber Mangrove Forest Products	11
	Mangrove Apiculture (Beekeeping)	12
	Sustainable fuel and fodder for goats and sheep	13
	Mangrove tourism	14
	Mangrove sport fishing	15
6	Requirements for successful product development and marketing	17
	Value chain management and technology	17
	Finances	17
	Regulations and enforcement	17
7	Concluding remarks	18
8	Acknowledgments	19
9	Quality Assurance	20
10	References	21
Justification		26

1 Abstract

In the context of developing bio-economies, tropical mangrove forests provide many options for sustainable livelihoods based on their many non-timber forest products such as fish, shellfish and many plant-based forest products. Integrating human livelihood needs into mangrove ecosystem conservation is of foremost importance for long-term sustainability of mangrove forests. However, because of their complicating biological characteristics, the development of such forest product resources for sustainable livelihoods has long been neglected. In this report we briefly discussed a number of promising options for mangrove-compatible livelihoods based on recent examples and highlight a few of the most critical requirements for their successful development.

2 Introduction

In the last decades efforts are being undertaken around the world to restore mangroves because of their many functions and uses. They are one of the world's most productive forest types which among others provide food, timber, charcoal, materials for local art and handicrafts and opportunities for ecotourism development, guard against sea level rise and sequester and store vast amounts of atmospheric carbon (Armitage 2002). In addition, they provide coastal protection, fulfil essential ecological functions such as that of entrapping pollutants, nutrients and sediments and provide nursery and spawning habitat for many important coastal fish species (Nagelkerken et al. 2008, Kimirei et al. 2013, Hutchison et al. 2014). The many functions they fulfil of importance to ecosystems and to man (Figure 1) can be divided into four basic types:

- Supporting functions, such as soil conservation and the fish nursery function,
- Regulating functions such as climate regulation and flood protection,
- Provisioning functions such as food, fresh water and materials
- Cultural functions such as recreation and esthetics.

Because of these many values, healthy mangroves contribute much more to the sustained economic well-being of tropical coastal regions than practically any other type of largescale land use, whether it be traditional agriculture (like rice) or aquaculture (like shrimp). The main current economic values of mangroves are in terms of protection of the coastline, property and infrastructure, and in terms of coastal fisheries production.



Figure 1. Overview of important ecosystem services provided by mangroves (Photo: A.O. Debrot).

Even though the value of mangroves is widely appreciated, more than 35% of the mangroves were lost worldwide during the 1980s and 1990s alone (Romañach et al. 2018). The greatest losses have occurred in Southeast Asia and the key driver of loss was the expansion of agriculture, aquaculture and urban use (Thomas et al. 2017). Indonesia has lost about 40% of its mangroves since the 1980s (FAO 2007) but total losses for Java are now around 70% (Ilman et al. 2016). This represents a great reduction in coastal safety and fisheries production and the urgency to restore the mangroves is high. According to Ilman et al. (2016) aquaculture, followed by palm oil plantations will continue as the main driver of mangrove destruction in Indonesia for the next two decades. Because shrimp pond productivity declines within years once in use, farmers are forced to continue to clear more mangroves to construct new shrimp ponds.

In order to halt and reverse this destructive trend, it is essential to recognize the high value of mangroves to coastal communities, to transform current unsustainable aquaculture practices into sustainable practices and to develop mangrove-compatible alternative livelihoods that do not depend on the unsustainable removal of mangroves. The development of mangrove-compatible livelihood options is especially important simply because, at the end of the day, the people living in mangrove areas need to make a living. However, the commercial development of such sustainable mangrove livelihood options has greatly been neglected (Debrot et al. 2020). The result of such neglect are that local communities often have no choice other than to continue with unsustainable practices that lead to the ultimate destruction of both mangroves and livelihoods.

Recognizing, allowing, developing and properly valuing alternative livelihood options is key to mangrove rehabilitation success. Tapping into the economic potential of mangroves can also serve to diversify livelihoods which is an important strategy used elsewhere to boost socio-economic resilience in rural areas (Wu et al. 2014).

Therefore, the goal of this essay is to briefly highlight some of the many possibilities for mangrovecompatible livelihood options for coastal communities. Also, we aim to highlight a few of the challenges that need to be addressed in order for these to successfully develop and sustain these options. Examples of options for the sustainable use of the economic riches of mangrove forest are presented from both Indonesia and other areas in the world.

3 Fisheries

Fish, shrimp, crabs and shellfish like oysters and mussels are among the most valuable renewable products that support livelihoods on mangrove coastlines. They are also very good quality protein sources for healthy nutrition and often depend on mangroves during their early life stages. For instance, Kimani et al. (1996) found that 63% of the fishes associated with mangroves were juveniles, while 44% were species typically associated with coral reefs. All three most important species for the coastal fisheries of Kenya are mangrove dependent (Hicks & McClanahan 2012) while in Malaysia the Grey eel-catfish (Sembilang), the most important species in the coastal commercial landings (21% of total landings) of the west coast, depends on mangrove estuaries during its young life stages (Leh et al. 2012). For these reasons, productive coastal fisheries along tropical coasts depend on protecting and restoring mangrove areas to fulfill the critical nursery function (Figure 2).



Figure 2. The coastal fishing fleet of Surodadi, Demak, Java. Most fishing takes place off-shore at some distance from mangroves but catches still intimately depend on the nursery role of mangroves (Photo: Y. R. Noor).

In addition, mangroves also export food in the form of leaf litter and nutrients to coastal waters, making them of great importance for coastal productivity. Without a source of juveniles and food for growth of fish and shrimp, areas that have lost their mangroves also typically lose their fisheries. The importance of mangroves to coastal fisheries has been demonstrated in several areas such as for India, where mangroves were found to contribute 1.86 tons of coastal fish catch per ha/year (Anneboina & Kumar 2017), and for Thailand where fishery yields benefit from mangrove forests at a minimum of US\$ 253.4 per ha/year (Barbier 2003). Das (2017) calculated the value of mangroves for offshore Gujarat prawn fisheries (in 2013-2014 prices) at a minimum of US\$ 7002 per ha/year, while for the Philippines replanted mangroves benefit local incomes by US\$ 564-2316 per ha/year (Walton et al. 2006). Even without counting the value of all the other economic benefits of mangroves, based on fisheries alone, it is already wise to protect and restore mangroves. Mangrove restoration has been shown in several studies to restore fish populations and the commercially very valuable mud crab population (Ulfa et al. 2016, Debrot et al. 2022). Studies show that fishermen that fish in the shallow seas off the coast often do not understand the important role of mangroves in making their catch possible and are less willing to support mangrove restoration (Walton et al. 2006). Therefore, awareness programs are essential in order for everyone from farmers, to fishermen to fully understand the value of these important forests in order for them to support mangrove restoration efforts. Needless to say, for fisheries to benefit the best from mangroves it is essential that the fisheries are managed to prevent overfishing (Figure 3). Fishes need to grow to adulthood in sufficient numbers to reproduce in order for a fishery to be able to sustain itself (Debrot et al. 2022).



Figure 3. Left: oysters harvested in a morning from the mangroves of Surodadi, Demak, Java. Shellfish can't swim away which makes them especially vulnerable to overharvest. Right: mangrove-dependent barramundi (Kakap-puthi) caught in a mangrove-restoration area at Timbulsloko, Java. In both cases, management regulations to prevent overharvest is critical (Photos: A.O. Debrot).

4 Mussel culture

The green mussel, *Perna viridis*, is an excellent source of protein, fat and carbohydrates (Chakraborty et al. 2016), and has long been cultured at a subsistence scale in Indonesia. It is a popular source of food throughout South-East Asia. Because it reproduces year-round, does not need supplemental food input, is ready for harvest in about six months (Litasari 2002) and requires no mangrove removal for pond construction, it is very promising as a sustainable seafood product on erosion-sensitive mangrove coasts (Litasari 2002), as long as its culture can be made profitable. Mussel culture does not require complex or sophisticated techniques, knowledge or equipment, making it ideal for small-scale artisanal use (Bin Sallih 2005). While mussel culture has greatly advanced and grown in importance in many areas of Asia, in Indonesia its use lags far behind (Lymer et al. 2010) and with few exceptions (e.g., Noor et al. 2019), innovation has largely stagnated (Lovatelli 1988).

To help facilitate the use of the potential that mussels represent to coastal communities, Rejeki et al. (2020) studied and developed new methods that allow profitable mussel culture using long-lines. The use of longlines is a simple, low-cost and easily adopted source of income for households in areas where other means of income generation have been lost or are limited. Also, longlines are a mangrove-friendly alternative livelihood and can be placed alongside mangrove channels, in lagoons, inside abandoned ponds and in shallow marine areas seawards mangrove forests without any need to cut mangroves or excavate ponds. Thanks to that work, in Indonesia, mussel culture can serve as an economic incentive to preserve mangroves so the latter can be left intact to fulfil their many other important ecosystem functions (Romañach et al. 2018). Mussel culture is a fully gender-compatible source of supplemental income and can easily and safely be conducted by women and children to provide food for the table (Kripa & Surendranathan 2008, Mohamed 2015, Rajagopal et al. 2006, Tan & Ransangan 2016, Vipinkumar et al. 2015). Additional research towards methods of scaling up production, improved site selection and greater efficiency in the market value chain (e.g., Bin Sallih 2005) is advised to further icrease green mussel culture profitability, and thereby make it even more effective as a commercially viable livelihood option for mangrove communities



Figure 4. Left: green mussel culture on bamboo poles in an abandoned broken dyke pond in Kaliwlingi village, Brebes, Java. Right: spat collected on a longline collector (Photo: Sri Rejeki).

5 Agroforestry-related options

There is a growing body of solid research that shows the potential of agroforestry for increasing or maintaining system economic productivity while protecting natural resources and environmental services at the same time. Hence agroforestry is a key tool for "sustainable economic intensification" (Muschler 2016) and this is also the case for mangrove forest systems. Agroforestry can be defined as "the intentional integration of trees and shrubs into crop and animal farming systems to create environmental, economic, and social benefits" (Muschler 2016). The concept originated in the 1970 but the practice in which trees, crops, and animals are combined is ancient and much older than the idea of monoculture. In agroforestry, trees or woody shrubs are combined into production systems with annual or perennial crops, grazing animals, or non-grazing animals like bees, fish or shrimp (Muschler 2016). A few examples follow.

Associated Mangrove Aquaculture (AMA)

In the beginning of the 21st century over 2 million people were working in the aquaculture sector in Indonesia alone. However, intensive aquaculture ponds lose profitability after a few years due to environmental degradation (Avnimelech 2006, Primavera 2006). This leads to a collapse of aquaculture productivity as well as damage to agricultural crops further inland (Marfai 2011, Primavera 1998). Mangrove trees play a critical role in maintaining ecosystem integrity and their reintroduction into the aquaculture system can help heal the damage done as long as there are sufficient mangrove areas left (Figure 5). Therefore, use of monoculture production systems, such as the common fish or shrimp pond culture, should be limited in surficial extent. Recent research suggests that such mono-culture systems should be limited to less than 25% of total land surface area to be sustainable. Different studies show how mangroves can even provide many benefits to the pond culture of fish and shrimp (Rahman et al. 2020, Alam et al. 2021, 2022). The mangroves are used to manage pond water quality and by associating mangroves to pond aquaculture can be a promising alternative for full pond reversion to mangrove (Primavera et al. 2014). In the AMA being developed, the mangroves stand outside the culture pond and along the banks of the connecting waterways.

Ideally in AMA, all waterways would at both sides have a band of at least 20m of mangrove. However, before farmers can give up part of their ponds, the benefit of aquaculture needs to increase. The project assisted about 150 fish farmers in Demak regency to restore part of their pond, along the waterways, into mangrove. For Indonesia this is a new type of silvi-aquaculture. In the past, farmers were stimulated (by others) to plant *Rhizophora mucronata* mangroves on the pond bunds. The latter has not helped aquaculture production significantly and has also not appreciably contributed to coastal protection or biodiversity. The new type of AMA offers more ecosystem services and opportunities to manage pond water quality (Bosma et al. 2020). By means of Low External Input Sustainable Aquaculture (LEISA), farmer's benefits can be multiplied by 300% in a sustainable way (Ariyati et al. 2019). These improvements create livelihood incentives and make it financially interesting to apply AMA, that will also even increase fish production for the coastal fisheries.



Figure 5. Overview of stated benefits from Mixed Mangrove Aquaculture as practiced by Pak Abdullah Ahsin of Purworedjo, Demak, Java (Photo: A. Debrot).

Plant-based Non-Timber Mangrove Forest Products

Mangrove plant materials have been used since time immemorial for many purposes. These include fuelwood, wooden poles, Nipa palm (Nypa fruticans) materials, vegetables, fish, and plants with medicinal properties (Feurer et al. 2018). Debrot et al. (2020) provide an extensive listing of 409 sustainable non-wood uses for 203 Asia-Pacific mangrove forest plants. Of these, 117 were food-related uses; 33 livestock and fish feed uses; 126 were domestic uses for crafts, as materials (including dyes and resins) or as ornamental plants; and 133 were medicinal uses. In Indonesia, more than 100 traditional uses have been documented from 39 mangrove and mangrove-associated species. Human food uses along with many recipes are provided by Priono et al. (2010). However, practically all uses remain at local subsistence levels (Kusmana 2018, Islam et al. 2020). Scalable commercialization of mangrove products is dearly needed for these to serve as true livelihood options. Simard et al. (2019) discuss the challenges and opportunities for livelihood development from artisanal handicrafts based on mollusc shells, which also abound in the mangrove habitat. In light of the global trends towards bioeconomy, today mangrove products represent a major business opportunity for forest communities to produce high value-added end-user products. Notwithstanding considerable preliminary work on recipes and product development (Figure 6), creating sustainable economic activities in mangrove systems through market and product development (e.g., Islam et al. 2021) is really needed before it will be possible to tap into the many economic riches made possible by the mangrove forest (Tamrin et al. 2018).



Figure 6. Examples of high quality, added-value consumer end products produced at the village level. Clockwise from top left: herbal tea, delectable mangrove leaf chips, batik fashion fabrics, mangrove apple juice (Photos: E. Damastuti, A.O. Debrot and Y.R. Noor).

Mangrove Apiculture (Beekeeping)

Mangrove apiculture is one of the many income and food provisioning services provided by vegetation. In several areas of the tropics, awareness of this value provides additional economic incentive for communities to preserve forest habitat as a source of nectar for bees (e.g., Sande et al. 2009, Baines and Whittaker 2016). Beekeeping yields several high-value products including honey, beeswax, royal jelly, bee pollen and propolis. Mangrove vegetation is also a valuable source of nectar for bees and several recent initiatives link apiculture with mangrove conservation as a way to provide alternative livelihoods for coastal villages and as an economic incentive to protect and/or restore mangrove forests. Bees kept in mangrove areas visit a large number of trees bushes and herbs including the mangrove trees themselves (Barth and Pinto Da Luz 1998, Upadhyay et al. 2014). In Indonesia the potential for apiculture has so far been little utilized, largely because of prejudices against bees and beekeeping (Gratzer et al. 2019). For Central Java additional challenges to beekeeping include a possible shortage of bee forage, capital, technical extension support and technical training. However, bee products are highly suitable to specialty products markets and with proper support can contribute to sustainable livelihoods for mangrove areas.

Sustainable fuel and fodder for goats and sheep

In many areas mangroves have been destroyed by excessive cutting for wood and fuel. However, research in Bangladesh shows that sustainable fuelwood production in mangrove forests is possible as long as principal branches are not harvested. By harvesting only small, non-essential branches (as in Figure 7), such firewood production can already recover the costs for mangrove reforestation (Chow 2015).



Figure 7. Sustainable fuelwood from mangroves. Left: Purworedjo; right: Timbulsloko, Demak, Java (Photos: A.O. Debrot).

The mangrove habitat is hot, muddy and salty which presents important challenges for the production of meat from typical large ruminants: they can sink into the mud, damage pond dikes with their hooves and are generally not adapted to high salt contents in the forage and/or water. Exceptions are some sheep and goat races that are well-adapted to high salt levels in the fodder (Dunson 1974). Many mangrove forest plants are good as fodder for such smaller ruminants which are often kept penned (Figure 8).



Figure 8. Left: collecting Rhizophora mucronata fodder for goats, Timbulsloko. Right: penned sheep, a common way of keeping livestock in the coastal areas of Surodadi, Demak, Java (Photos: A.O. Debrot).

Mangrove tourism

A great example of a successful community-based mangrove tourism project as a source of alternative livelihoods in a mangrove area comes from Kaliwlingi village in Brebes district (Fig. 9). The village has suffered much from coastal abrasion such that many shrimp ponds have been lost and shrimp and fish culture are no longer feasible. This has made it necessary for the village to seek alternative livelihood options that are compatible with mangrove conservation. Mangrove replanting efforts started in 2007, and since then a total of 145 ha have been planted. The Kaliwlingi community mangrove tourism project was begun in 2014 by initiative of Pak Mashadi of the "Mangrove Tracking" project (Desa Wisata Mangrove Pandansari Tracking Mangrove dan Pulau Pasir; "Village Tourism Mangrove Guide to Tracking Mangroves and Sand Islands). This project was started based on a combination of local community, international NGO and government support in 2014. At present several NGO's such as OISCA, Indonesian Rainforest Foundation and Toshiba still provide annual support. Since it started, the project has grown dramatically. In 2017 it booked 85,000 visitors while in 2018 it booked 120,000 visitors. It generates finances based on an entry fee of IDR 15,000 per visitor plus sales from many locally owned souvenir shops, food stalls ("warung") and boat trips. Local shop entrepreneurs rent space from pond owners and also pay a monthly community tax of IDR 300,000 for support of the project. The shops sell high quality locally produced mangrove end-products to the visitors (Fig. 10). In this fashion the financial benefits of the project are widely spread in the community with a high multiplier effect. Promotion is based on social media, a website and ticket-online booking. As of yet there are only two other comparable projects on Java, one in Banten west Java and one in Situbonto, East Java.



Figure 9. The entrance to the Kaliwlingi (Brebes, Java) community touristic "Mangrove Tracking" project in Brebes district that currently receives over 120,000 (largely local) tourists per year (Photos: A.O. Debrot).

Mangrove sport fishing

A good example of successful development of mangrove sport fishing industry comes from the village of Sigempol at Randusanga Kulon in Brebes district. There, Pak Masdori and Pak Suradi pioneered the development of a community sport fishing project in an area where pond culture no longer is feasible due to coastal abrasion. In contrast to the mangrove tourism project of Kaliwlingi village discussed above, this project has been totally independent from NGO or government financial sponsorship. It is supported based on informal local government zoning excluding commercial net fishing in the prescribed area and voluntary cooperation by the community and fishermen. For 25,000 IDR per day, fishermen are provided transport to any of a number of mangrove fishing vantage points including either one of many fishing huts (Fig. 11, left; "ranggon"), or one of two fishing islands; Pulau Ikan and Pulau Hantu. These islands are not true islands but basically consist of two larger vegetated remnant pond bunds that persist in the otherwise-eroded former pond landscape. Unwritten community project rules of no net fishing and no electric fishing are well abided to by the fishermen. The project started in 2007, and currently receives about 36,000 largely local anglers per year. Species caught by angling consist primarily of high-value predatory species like barramundi, catfish, snapper, and grouper. Daily catches of more than 10kg of fish are not unusual which yield a middleman sales value of 200,000 IDR per angling day (Fig. 11, right). The project has no website or organized promotion and largely receives free publicity based on blogs and other social media by visiting fishermen. The initiative is community-based and self-regulated.



Figure 10. Part of the entrance food court/boulevard with ample food stall and souvenir shops at Sigempol, Brebes, Java, selling locally-produced consumer food end-products like local salt and fried shrimp crackers (Photos: A.O. Debrot).



Figure 11. Left: one of many fishing huts (ranggong) at Sigempol, Brebes, Java, built to provide sport fishermen fishing vantage points. Right: visitor posing with a nice sports-caught barramundi (Kakap puthi) catch (Photos: A.O. Debrot).

6 Requirements for successful product development and marketing

Value chain management and technology

Apart from those mangrove products harvested for own use, all mangrove natural products pass along the value and supply chain before reaching the end user. At each stage, the price of the product increases and a profit margin is realized. This means that completing more of the value chain within the community is an opportunity to retain jobs and profit within the community. That is of much greater benefit than selling fresh harvest to city middlemen but is a major challenge for poor coastal communities where most processing is done manually and with minimal technology. This equates to high labour production costs, inconsistent quality, high perishability and unreliable supply. Therefore, aside from being very promising, the international marketing of forest goods can also be very challenging (Shanley et al. 2016). Different scholars have discussed the high perishability of many products, difficulties in marketing products at both the local and international levels (Pendelton 1992), poor pricing estimations, poor predictability of supply and the local community's lack of experience with the market economy, high-quality-control standards of importing countries and that many products can be in one day and out the next (Shanley et al. 2016). In addition, commercialization for international markets also requires several critical preconditions, among which a favourable law and policy environment, welldeveloped and accessible markets, and a well-managed resource (Shanley et al. 2016). Hence for many mangrove natural products to become more widely marketable and to go significantly beyond subsistence use, the development of market plans and intermediate-scale production technology for application at the village level is essential. For very many mangrove products with high potential, efficient production processes have yet to be developed in addition to effective marketing.

Finances

Even in cases where such technology has been developed, finances are needed to be able to realise technological improvements. Finances can be obtained in many ways but for cash-strapped communities this will largely come down to subsidies from NGOs or some form of micro-credit arrangement which today are widely provided by financial institutions. For instance in the Ayeyarwady Delta in Myanmar as many as 59% of households make use of microfinance (Feurer et al. 2018). In addition, group saving clubs are possible but are generally only suitable for more limited capital expenditures (Rim and Rouse 2002).

Regulations and enforcement

Availability of non-timber mangrove forest products can provide important incentives to coastal communities to conserve mangroves for socio-economic benefits such as livelihoods, food, and health security (FAO 1999, Harbi et al. 2018). Allowing wise use and harvest of mangrove forest products can contribute to sustainable forest management and conservation strategies (Arnold 2002), but this alone is not enough. Without regulations and enforcement, communities that live in or near wooded areas such as mangrove forests will ultimately reduce the forest cover for both short- and long-term benefits (Nurrochmat et al. 2017). Therefore, effective limits to deleterious types of use, such as removal of trees and overharvest are critical to keep mangrove forest use sustainable (Birgiantoro and Nurrochmat 2007; Roslinda et al. 2012; Adalina et al. 2014; Harbi et al. 2018).

7 Concluding remarks



Figure 12. Healing the landscape at Timbulsloko, Demak, Java. Thanks to planting, a mangrove forest emerges from what were totally barren shrimp ponds. (Photo: A.O. Debrot).

Mangrove rehabilitation can be achieved in different ways, with or without planting(Bijsterveldt et al. 2022), depending on the local constraints (Fig. 12). Whether it will be supported by the local communities in the long-term depends most importantly on fair and equitable economic incentives in the form of clear sustainable livelihood provision for the local communities. Integrating human livelihood needs into mangrove ecosystem conservation is essential to achieve long-term sustainability for mangrove forests (Romañach et al. 2018). Mangrove forests provide many options for sustainable livelihoods based on their many non-timber forest products such as fish, shellfish and many plant-based forest products. However, because of their complicating biological characteristics the development of such forest product resources for sustainable livelihoods has long been neglected. As a result, the inhabitants of mangrove areas have often been forced to continue with unsustainable practices that usually end up in the destruction of the mangrove forests. Only by developing sustainable, mangrove rehabilitation. We have briefly discussed a number of promising options for mangrove-compatible livelihoods and highlight a few of the most critical requirements to their successful development.

8 Acknowledgments

The Netherlands Sustainable Water Fund provided core funding for this work through project number FDW14R14. Additional co-funding was provided to Wageningen University and Research by the Netherlands Ministry of Agriculture, Nature and Food Quality through grant KB36 #4318300114. Pak Slamat, Pak Muis are thanked for their all-around hospitality during our visits and some delicious mangrove leaf chips. Pak Mashadi is thanked for providing details about the Kaliwlingi village mangrove tourism project, while Pak Masdori and Pak Suradi of Sigempol in Brebes are thanked for their information on their mangrove sportfishing project. Finally, the authors wish to thank Pieter van Eijk and Yus Rusila Noor both of Wetlands International and Eka Damastuti of Wageningen University for contributing photographs. We also thank Ir. René Henkens for his careful review and for pointing out many improvements and corrections to our benefit.

9 Quality Assurance

Wageningen Marine Research utilises an ISO 9001:2015 certified quality management system. The organisation has been certified since 27 February 2001. The certification was issued by DNV.

10 References

Adalina, Y., Nurrochmat, D.R., Darusman, D., & Sundawati, L., 2014. Harvesting of nontimber forest products by the local communities in mount Halimun-Salak National Park, West Java, Indonesia. JMHT 20(2): 103–111. August 4. https://doi.org/10.7226/jtfm.20.2.103.

Alam, M.I., Ahmed, M.U., Yeasmin, S., Debrot, A.O., Ahsan, M.N., & Verdegem, M.C.J., 2022. Effect of mixed leaf litter of four mangrove species on shrimp post larvae (*Penaeus monodon*, Fabricius, 1798) performance in tank and mesocosm conditions in Bangladesh. *Aquaculture*, 737968.

Alam, M.I., Debrot, A.O., Ahmed, M.U., Ahsan, M.N., & Verdegem, M.C.J., 2021. Synergistic effects of mangrove leaf litter and supplemental feed on water quality, growth and survival of shrimp (*Penaeus monodon*, Fabricius, 1798) post larvae. Aquaculture, 737237

Anneboina, L.R., & Kumar, K.K., 2017. Economic analysis of mangrove and marine fishery linkages in India. *Ecosystem Services* 24: 114–123.

Ariyati, R.W., Rejeki, S., Widowati, L.L., Elfitasari, T., & Bosma, R.H., 2019. Effect of three types of liquid compost combined with *Avicennia marina* leaves on growth and survival of tiger prawns (*Penaeus monodon*). *International Aquatic Research* 11(4): 311–321.

Armitage, D., 2002. Socio-institutional dynamics and political ecology of mangrove forest conservation in Central Sulawesi, Indonesia. *Global Environmental Change* 12(3): 203–217.

Arnold, J.E., 2002. *Identifying Links between Forests and Poverty*; ECTF/IIED Forestry and Poverty Reduction Workshop: Edinburgh, UK.

Avnimelech, Y., 2006. Bio-filters: the need for an new comprehensive approach. *Aquacultural engineering* 34(3): 172–178.

Baines, J., & Whittaker, M., 2016. Apiculture in or Near Mangroves: A Natural Winner for Communities & Mangroves. Mangrove Action Project Leaflet. Available online: https://mangroveactionproject.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/08/MAP-Mangrove-Apiculture-Info.pdf

Barbier, E. B., 2003. Habitat-fishery linkages and mangrove loss in Thailand. *Contemporary Economic Policy* 21(1): 59–77.

Barth, O.M., & Pinto Da Luz, C.F., 1998. Melissopalynological data obtained from a mangrove area near to Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, *Journal of Apicultural Research* 37(3): 155–163.

Bijsterveldt, C., van, Debrot, A.O, Bouma, T.J., Maulana, M.B., Pribadi, R., Schop, J., ... & van Wesenbeeck, B.K. 2022. To plant or not to plant: when can planting facilitate mangrove restoration?. *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, 762.

Bin Sallih, K., 2005. Mussel farming in the state of Sarawak, Malaysia: a feasibility study. Fisheries Training Programme Report. United Nations University, Reykjavik, Iceland, 44 pp.

Birgiantoro, B.A., & Nurrochmat, D.R., 2007. Pemanfaatan sumberdaya hutan oleh masyarakat di KPH Banyuwangi Utara. J. *Manajemen Hutan Tropika* 13(3): 172–181.

Bosma, R.H., Debrot, A.O., Rejeki, S., Tonneljck, F., Priyanto, E. B., Susanto, A., ... & Slhombing, W., 2020. *Associated Mangrove Aquaculture Farms; Building with Nature to restore eroding tropical muddy coasts* (No. 4). Ecoshape.

Chow, J., 2015. Spatially explicit evaluation of local extractive benefits from mangrove plantations in Bangladesh. *J. Sustain. Forestry* 34: 651–681.

Das, S., 2017. Ecological restoration and livelihood: Contribution of planted mangroves as nursery and habitat for artisanal and commercial fishery. *World Development* 94: 492–502.

Debrot, A.O., Veldhuizen, A., Van Den Burg, S.W., Klapwijk, C.J., Islam, M., Alam, M., ... & Poelman, M., 2020. Non-timber forest product livelihood-focused interventions in support of mangrove restoration: A call to action. *Forests* 11-01224.

Debrot, A.O., Plas, A., Boesono, H., Prihantoko, K., Baptist, M.J., Murk, A.J., & Tonneijck, F.H., 2022. Early increases in artisanal shore-based fisheries in a Nature-based Solutions mangrove rehabilitation project on the north coast of Java. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, *267*, 107761.

Dunson, W.A., 1974. Some aspects of salt and water balance of feral goats from arid islands. *American Journal of Physiology* 226 (3): 662–669.

Chakraborty, K., Chakkalakal, S.J., Joseph, D., Asokan, P.K. & Vijayan, K.K., 2016. Nutritional and antioxidative attributes of green mussel (*Perna viridis* L.) from the southwestern coast of India. *Journal of Aquatic Food Product Technology* 25(7): 968–985. https://doi.org/10.1080/10498850. 2015.1004498

FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization), 1999. Toward a harmonized definition of non-wood forest products. Unasylva 198.

FAO, 2007. The world's mangroves 1980-2005. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Rome.

Feurer, M., Gritten, D., & Than, M.M., 2018. Community forestry for livelihoods: benefiting from Myanmar's mangroves. *Forests* 9(3), 150.

Gratzer, K., Susilo, F., Purnomo, D., Fiedler, S., & Brodschneider, R., 2019. Challenges for beekeeping in Indonesia with autochthonous and introduced bees. *Bee World* 96(2): 40–44.

Harbi, J., Erbaugh, J.T., Sidiq, M., Haasler, B., & Nurrochmat, D. R., 2018. Making a bridge between livelihoods and forest conservation: Lessons from non timber forest products' utilization in South Sumatera, Indonesia. *Forest Policy and Economics* 94: 1-10.

Hicks, C.C., & McClanahan, T.R., 2012. Assessing gear modifications needed to optimize yields in a heavily exploited, multi-species, seagrass and coral reef fishery. *PLoS One 7*(5), e36022.

Hutchison, J., Spalding, M. & Zu Ermgassen, P., 2014. The Role of Mangroves in Fisheries Enhancement. The Nature Conservancy and Wetlands International. 54 pp.

Ilman, M., Dargusch, P. & Dart, P., 2016. A historical analysis of the drivers of loss and degradation of Indonesia's mangroves. *Land Use Policy* 54: 448–459.

Islam, M.N., Dana, N.H., Rahman, K.S., Hossain, M.T., Ahmed, M.U., and Sadig, A., 2020. *Nypa fruticans* Wurmb leaf collection as a livelihoods strategy: A case study in the Sundarbans Impact Zone of Bangladesh. *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, 1-18.

Islam, M.N., Rahman, F., Papri, S.A., Faruk, M.O., Das, A.K., Adhikary, N., Debrot, A.O., & Ahsan, M.N., 2021. Water hyacinth (*Eichhornia crassipes* (Mart.) Solms.) as an alternative raw material for the production of bio-compost and handmade paper. Journal of Environmental Management, 294, 113036

Kimani, E.N., Mwatha, G.K., Wakwabi, E.O., Ntiba, J.M., & Okoth, B.K., 1996. Fishes of a shallow tropical mangrove estuary, Gazi, Kenya. *Marine and Freshwater Research* 47(7): 857–868.

Kimirei, I.A., Nagelkerken, I., Mgaya, Y.D., & Huijbers, C.M., 2013. The mangrove nursery paradigm revisited: otolith stable isotopes support nursery-to-reef movements by Indo-Pacific fishes. *PloS One* 8(6):e66320.

Kusmana, C., 2018. Mangrove plant utilization by local coastal community in Indonesia. IOP Conf. Series: Earth and Environmental Science 196, 012028

Kripa, V., & Surendranathan, V.G., 2008. Social impact and women empowerment through mussel farming in Kerala, India. *Development* 51(2): 199–204. https://doi.org/10.1057/dev.2008.5

Leh, M.U.C., Sasekumar, A. & Chew, L.L., 2012. Feeding biology of eel catfish *Plotosus caninus* Hamilton in a Malaysian mangrove estuary and mudflat. *Raffles Bulletin of Zoology* 60(2): 551–557.

Litasari, L., 2002. Land Suitability Study and Policy for Utilizing Green Shellfish Cultivation Areas (*Mytilus viridis*) (Case Study in Kamal Muara Village, North Jakarta). Thesis. Bogor: Program Pascasarjana IPB. http://repository.ipb.ac.id/handle/123456789/7235

Lovatelli, A., 1988. Status of oyster culture in selected Asian countries www.fao.org/docrep/field/003/AB716E/AB716E08.htm [5 September 2019]

Lymer, D., Funge-Smith, S., & Miao, W., 2010. Status and potential of fisheries and aquaculture in Asia and the Pacific 2010. FAO Regional Office for Asia and the Pacific. RAP Publication 2010/17. 85 pp. ISBN 978-92-5-106721-

Marfai, M.A., 2011. The hazards of coastal erosion in Central Java, Indonesia: An overview. *Geografia: Malaysian Journal of Society and Space*, 7 (3): 1 Land Suitability Study and Policy for Utilizing Green Shellfish Cultivation Areas (*Mytilus viridis*) (Case Study in Kamal Muara Village, North Jakarta). 9.

Mohamed, K.S., 2015. Mussel farming and its potential in India. In: Advances in marine and brackish water aquaculture. Perumal S. et al (eds), pp. 187–193, Springer, India.

Muschler, R.G., 2016. Agroforestry: Essential for Sustainable and Climate-Smart Land Use?. *Tropical Forestry Handbook* 2113–2116.

Nagelkerken, I., Blaber, S.J.M., Bouillon, S., Green, P., Haywood, M., Kirton, L.G., ... & Somerfield, P. J., 2008. The habitat function of mangroves for terrestrial and marine fauna: a review. *Aquatic Botany* 89(2): 155–185.

Noor, N.M., Nursyam, H., Widodo, M.S, & Risjani, Y., 2019. Biological aspects of green mussels *Perna viridis* cultivated on raft culture in Pasaran coastal waters, Indonesia. *AACL Bioflux* 12(2): 448–456.

Nurrochmat, D.R., Nugroho, I.A., Hardjanto, Purwadianto, Maryudi, A., & Erbaugh, J.T., 2017. Shifting contestation into cooperation: Strategy to incorporate different interest of actors in medicinal plants in Meru Betiri National Park, Indonesia. *Forest Policy Econ.* 83 (2017): 162–168. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2017.08.005

Pendelton, L., 1992. Trouble in paradise: practical obstacles to nontimber forestry in Latin America. In: Plotkin M, Famolare L (eds) Sustainable harvest and marketing of rainforest products. Island Press, Washington, DC, pp 252–262.

Primavera, J.H., 1998. Tropical shrimp farming and its sustainability. In: De Silva, S. (Ed.), Tropical Mariculture. Academic Press, London, pp. 257–289.

Primavera, J.H., 2006. Overcoming the impacts of aquaculture on the coastal zone. *Ocean & Coastal Management* 49(9-10): 531–545.

Primavera, J.H., Yap, W.G., Savaris, J.P., Loma, R.J.A., Moscoso, A.D.E., Coching, J.D., Montilijao, C.L., Poingan, R.P., & Tayo, I.D., 2014. Manual on Mangrove Reversion of Abandoned and Illegal Brackishwater Fishponds – Mangrove Manual Series No. 2. London, UK: ZSL. xii + 108 p.

Priono, A., Juliani, L.S., Ilmingtyas, D., & Hakim, T.L., 2010. Beragam Produk Olahan Berbahan Dasan Mangrove. KESEMAT, Semarang. 65 pp. www.kesemat.undipac..id

Rahman, K.S., Islam, M.N., Ahmed, M.U., Bosma, R.H., Debrot, A.O., & Ahsan, M.N., 2020. Selection of mangrove species for shrimp based silvo-aquaculture in the coastal areas of Bangladesh. *Journal of Coastal Conservation*, *24*(5), 1-13.

Rajagopal, S., Venugopalan, V., van der Velde, G., & Jenner, H., 2006. Greening of the coasts: a review of the *Perna viridis* success story. *Aquatic Ecology* 40: 273–297.

Rejeki, S., Debrot, A.O., van den Brink, A.M., Ariyati, R.W., & Widowati, L., 2021. Increased production of green mussels (Perna viridis) using longline culture and an economic comparison with stake culture on the north coast of Java, Indonesia. *Aquaculture Research* 52(1): 373–380.

Rim, J-Y., & Rouse, J., 2002. The Group Savings Resource Book - A Practical Guide to Help Groups Mobilize and Manage Their Savings. FAO. http://www.fao.org/docrep/005/Y4094E/y4094e04.htm.

Romañach, S., DeAngelis, D.L., Koh, H.L., Li, Y., Teh, S.Y., Barizan, R.S.R., & Zhai, L., 2018. Conservation and restoration of mangroves: Global status, perspectives, and prognosis. *Ocean & Coastal Management* 154: 7–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2018.01.009

Roslinda, E., Darusman, D., Suharjito, D., & Nurrochmat, D.R., 2012. Analisis pemangku kepentingan dalam pengelolaan Taman Nasional Danau Sentarum Kabupaten Kapuas Hulu, Kalimantan Barat. J. *Manajemen Hutan Tropika* 18(2): 78–85.

Sande, S.O., Crewe, R.M., Raina, S.K., Nicolson, S.W., & Gordon, I., 2009. Proximity to a forest leads to higher honey yield: Another reason to conserve. *Biol. Conserv.* 142: 2703–2709.

Shanley, P., Pierce, A.R., Laird, S.A., Binnqüist, C.L., & Guariguata, M.R., 2016. From lifelines to livelihoods. In *Tropical Forestry Handbook*; Pancel, L., Kohl, M., Eds.; Springer: Heidelberg, Germany. pp. 2713–2760, doi:10.1007/978-3-642-54601-3_129.

Simard, N.S., Militz, T.A., Kinch, J., & Southgate, P.C., 2019. Artisanal, shell-based handicraft in Papua New Guinea: Challenges and opportunities for livelihoods development. *Ambio* 48(4): 374–384.

Tamrin, A., Iwan T.C.W., & Ilman, M., 2018. Valuasi Ekonomi Ekosistem Mangrove – Tantangan dan Strategi Pengelolaannya. Studi Kasus: Kelurahan Sawah Luhur, Kelurahan Banten, Desa Timbulsloko dan Desa Morodemak. Wetlands International Indonesia. Bogor.

Tan, K.S., & Ransangan J., 2016. Feeding behavior of green mussels, *Perna viridis* farmed in MaruduBay, Malaysia. *Aquaculture Research* 48(3): 1216–1231.

Thomas, N., Bunting, L.R., Hardy, P., Rosenqvist, A., & Simard, M., 2017. Distribution and drivers of global mangrove forest change, 1996–2010. *PLoS ONE 12*, e0179302.

Ulfa, M., Ikejima, K., Poedjirahajoe E.L., Faida, R.W., & Harahap, M.M., 2018. Effects of mangrove rehabilitation on density of *Scylla* spp. (mud crabs) in Kuala Langsa, Aceh. *Indonesia Regional Studies in Marine Science* 24: 296–302.

Upadhyay, D., Bhattacharya, S., Ferguson, D.K., & Bera, S., 2014. Prospects of apicultural entrepreneurship in coastal districts of Eastern India: A Melisso-palynological Evaluation. *PLoS ONE* 9, e94572.

Vipinkumar, V.P., Asokan, P.K., Mohamed, K.S., Kripa, V., Sasikumar, G., Vidya, R., & Athira, P.V., 2015. Gender perspective and effectiveness of group dynamics in women empowerment: a study on Self help group initiative in mussel farming along the Malabar Coast, Southern India. *Discovery* 49(226), 1-27. http://eprints.cmfri.org.in/id/eprint/10551

Walton, M.E.M., Samonte-Tan, G., Primavera, J. H., Edwards-Jones, G. & Le Vay, L., 2006. Are mangroves worth replanting? The direct economic benefits of a community-based reforestation project. *Environmental Conservation* 33: 335–343.

Justification

Report C053/22 Project Number: 4315100005

The scientific quality of this report has been peer reviewed by a colleague scientist and a member of the Management Team of Wageningen Marine Research

Approved:

René J.H.G. Henkens Researcher

Signature:

Date:

24/11/2022

Approved: Drs. Jakob Asjes MT member Integration

Signature:

A A R

Date: 24/11/2022

Wageningen Marine Research T +31 (0)317 48 7000 E: marine-research@wur.nl www.wur.eu/marine-research

Visitors' address

- Ankerpark 27 1781 AG Den Helder
- Korringaweg 7, 4401 NT Yerseke
- Haringkade 1, 1976 CP IJmuiden

With knowledge, independent scientific research and advice, **Wageningen Marine Research** substantially contributes to more sustainable and more careful management, use and protection of natural riches in marine, coastal and freshwater areas.



Wageningen Marine Research is part of Wageningen University & Research. Wageningen University & Research is the collaboration between Wageningen University and the Wageningen Research Foundation and its mission is: 'To explore the potential for improving the quality of life'